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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
ROANOKE DIVISION

PAUL RONALD GWAZDAVSKAS, )
Plaintiff, ) Civil Action No. 7:19-cv-00426
)
v. )
) By: Elizabeth K. Dillon
BRANDON THARP, et al., ) United States District Judge

Defendants. )
MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Paul Ronald Gwazdavskas, proceeqing se filed this action pursuant to 42
U.S.C. § 1983. His claims arise from a ®epbber 12, 2018 traffic stop, during which he was
uncooperative and subsequently fled. His fleé®ugto what he describes as a “low-speed
chase,” followed by his arrest. In his amendenhplaint, he names twdefendants: Officer
Brandon Tharp of the Louisa County SherifD$fice, who initiated the traffic stop, and
Schienschang, a deputy with the Orange Co&higriff's Office, who assisted in pursuing
plaintiff and arresting him.

Pending before the courtdgfendants’ motion to dismiss (Dkt. No. 33). Plaintiff has
filed a response in opposition (Dkt. No. 35), defensitwave filed a replyDkt. No. 38), and the

motion is ripe for dispositioh. For the reasons set forth herein, the court will grant defendants

motion to dismiss the remaining claimsd dismiss this case without prejudice.

1 After defendants filed their reply, plaintiff filed a thirty-page document that has been docketed as
“Additional Evidence.” The document contains various forms and notices, including a “Legal Notice” directed
toward the state circuit courts in which he was conviaétotice of Trespass,” and a “Bill of Lading” directed to
this court. (Dkt. No. 39 at 1, 8.) Overall, plaintiff appe@arde asking for certain records from the state court, and
he states that the request is being sent to this court as “evidetltitaat ) The filing also includes a number of
documents that appear to be offered as proof of damiges {2—21, 25-30) and other documents consisting of
letters from courts and court orders, which have been crossed out and “Void” written ordtlara2—24). First
of all, the court declines to consider these materials, which are not part of the pleadings, in ruling onta motion
dismiss. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 12(d). Moreover, the document is largely—if not entirely—irrelevant and not
responsive to the motion to dismiss. In any event, to the extent that it is at all coherent and addreases the iss
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. BACKGROUND

In his amended complaint, plaintiff allegthat, during a September 12, 2018 traffic stop,
when he was stopped by defendant Tharp, plaiig¥e written and verbal notice that [he] was
standing on [his] right to remain silent,” btiharp “continued to quésn him over and over.”
(Am. Compl. 2, Dkt. No. 212) He further alleges that Officdharp refused to provide a
business card identifying himself and refused tosalaintiff to call 911 or talk to a supervisor.
Tharp also did not give plaintiff a ticket show a warrant. Instead, Tharp demanded that
plaintiff exit his truck. Because plaintiff was “duress” and feared death or harm, he refused to
exit the vehicle and refused to engage, other ithf@nming Tharp that Tharp was trespassing.
(Id. at 4.) At that point, Tharfihreatened harm” and then “atteted to break out a window” of
plaintiff's truck with his baton. I¢l.) Plaintiff states that he wast‘fear of life and injury,” and
so he fled the sceneld()

This led to a vehicle pursuit (describeddaintiff as a “low speed chase”) by Tharp,
who was joined by Schienschangparently in a separate vehicle, and other unnamed officers.
Schienschang'’s vehicle collided with plaintiftisick several times, causing damage to both
vehicles, although plaintiff's complaint does mudicate how the collision occurred or if

Schienschang purposefully collided with hisck. Once plaintiff was stopped, Schienschang

raised in the motion to disnsisthe court declines to cader it because it is an impeissible sur-reply and plaintiff
did not seek leave to file it.

2 Specifically, plaintiff states that he provided Tharp with a “passport that requests safe and udmoleste
passage” and a “contract” with a “reservation of rights anidethat no questions will be answered.” (Am. Compl.
3.) Based on all of plaintiff’s filingst appears that his conduciward Tharp and belief that he need not respond to
inquiries of law enforcement officers ding a traffic stop is based on a species of “sovereign citizen” argument. As
noted previously in this case, “Self-proclaimed ‘sovereign citizens’ ‘believe they have special righfteardject
to jurisdiction on . . . unfounded grounds.™ (Dkt. No. 19 at 4 n.1. (qu®osgser v. CarsqriNo. 7:19CV00156,

2019 WL 1474009, at *2 n.2 (W.D. Va. Apr. 3, 2018ifd, No. 19-6682, 777 F. App’x 689 (4th Cir. Sept. 27,
2019)). Courts, including this one, have recognized those arguments as frivdé®®.g., Rosseuprg United
States v. Gloveri715 F. App’x 253, 255 & n.2 (4th Cir. 2017).
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struck and shattered the truckindow and ordered plaintiff outPlaintiff states that after he
complied with the order to exit and kneel om tiround, “excessive force by assault by Officers”
occurred, resulting in plaintiff suffering from a strained back, scraped legs, and a hernia to his
side. SeeAm. Compl. 4.) No additional details are prded as to the “excessive force” used.

The complaint also asserts that the two defendants swore out ten “false charges” against plaintiff
before a magistrate judge the following daid.)(

According to publicly available court documentslaintiff was charged with a number of
offenses in Louisa County Circuit Court anda@ge County Circuit Court as a result of the
September 12, 2018 everits few charges were nolle prosseUltimately, in Louisa County,
he pled guilty to two offenses and was sentenced for both on June 17, 2019. First, in case
CR19000005-01, he pled guilty to a felony charge of eluding police or disregarding a signal to
stop, in violation of Virginia Code 8 46.2-817(BAmong other penaltiebe was sentenced to
twelve months in jail, with no time sugmed. Second, in case CR19000030-03, he pled guilty
to the offense of driving without a license violation of Virgina Code § 46.2-300, and was
sentenced to a $500 fine and $263 in costs.

In Orange County, he proceeded to a juigl in two separate ailnges. He was found
not guilty of assault on a law enforcement offibet was found guilty of destruction of property
valued at more than $1000, in violation\fginia Code § 18.2-137, for which he was sentenced

to 14 days.

3 SeeFed. R. Evid. 201(b)(2) (permitting a federal court to take judicial notice of certain factsjiial
Penn Ins. Co. v. CqiB87 F.2d 1236, 1239-40 (4th Cir. 1989) (explaining that a federal court may take judicial
notice of state court proceedingsatldirectly relate to the issues pending in the federal court).

4 Court records are not consistent in the spelling of plaintiff's name. In Louisa County, his name was

spelled “Gwazdauskas.” In Orange County, the charges were brought against “Paul Arnold Gwazdauskas a.k.a.
Paul Arnold Gwaz.” There is no reasonable suggestion that plaintiff is not the individual who was charged.
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The Court of Appeals of Virginia denied fustitions for appeal as to all judgments, both
in Louisa County and Orange Counigwazdauskas v. Commonwealio. 109619-2 (Va. Ct.
App. Apr. 24, 2020) (Louisalswazdauskas v. Commonwealito. 070419-2 (Va. Ct. App.

Dec. 19, 2019) (Orange). He then filed petititorsappeal from both decisions, and his petitions
remain pending before the Supreme Court of Virgitdavazdauskas v. Commonweallos.
191739, 200576 (Vad.

II. DISCUSSION
A. Motion to Dismiss

A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) tests the comptalagal and factual
sufficiency. See Ashcroft v. Igbab56 U.S. 662, 677-80 (200®8ell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb]y550
U.S. 544, 554-63 (2007giarratano v. Johnsgrb21 F.3d 298, 302 (4th Cir. 2008). To
withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, a pleading mfaentain sufficient factuamatter, accepted as
true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its fatgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. In considering
the motion, the court must construe the facid reasonable inferences “in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving partyMassey v. Ojanijt759 F.3d 343, 347 (4th Cir. 2014). A
court need not accept as true a comglaileigal conclusions, “unwarranted inferences,
unreasonable conclusions, or argumenGiarratano, 521 F.3d at 302Pro secomplaints are
afforded a liberal constructiorL.aber v. Harvey438 F.3d 404, 413 n.3 (4th Cir. 2006).

Defendants contend that the amended@aint should be dismissed against both
defendants. As to Tharp, they point out that fes alleged indicate there was a lawful traffic
stop, in which the plaintiff vi@ted statutory duties to produce documents, he was therefore

detained beyond the initial traffic stop, failed to respontiharp’s lawful orders, and

5 He also filed a petition for mandamus and a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Supremé Court o
Virginia (Case Nos. 191029 and 191086); those cases were dismissed.

4



subsequently fled.” As to 8enschang, they claim that thengplaint fails to state a claim
because plaintiff “describes nothing more thachase resulting in his felony arrest.” (Mem.
Supp. Mot. Summ. J. 2, Dkt. No. 33.)

Plaintiff's response to the motion to dismisa twenty-page rambling statement, full of
references to sovereign citizen-type argumerige (Supraote 2.) These include a statement of
his overall belief system from whianany of his other assertions flow: that he lives as a
“private” person and “refuses to comply ammhsent with government agents that wish to
trespass on his privacy.” He goes on to comhout things thatave happened while
imprisoned, such as his “image” being “takesnfrhim thousands of times” during incarceration
against his will and his DNA being taken frommh He alleges he is “foreign” to the
Commonwealth of Virginia and then contends he is entitled to sovereign immunity as a foreign
entity, and makes other similar claims. Part of his document is titled as a Complaint, and he lists
other counts of Trespassing (against Thangl) malicious prosecution, but he has not sought
leave to amend and has nikéd an amended complaint.

Moreover, although plaintiff includes some dttohal factual #egations in his response,
it is well-established that party may not amend its pleadings through briefaeg S. Walk at
Broadlands Homeowner’s Ass’n v. OpenBand at Broadlands, ZL& F.3d 175, 184-85 (4th
Cir. 2013). Accordingly, the court does not trifese allegations as part of the amended
complaint. See id.

B. On the Current Record, the Court Cannot Conclusively Determine WhetheHeck v.
Humphrey Bars Any of Plaintiff's Claims.

Although defendant has not movied dismissal on the basisahplaintiff's claims are
subject to the bar set forth lHeck v. Humphrey512 U.S. 477 (1994), the court considers the

issue. Heckprecludes a § 1983 claim that would “nexaady imply the invalidity of [the



plaintiff’'s] conviction or sentencébecause “civil tort actions amot appropri&t vehicles for
challenging the validity of ostanding criminal judgmentsld. at 486—87. Instead, “habeas
corpus is the appropriate remedy” for atstprisoner to challenge his convictidd. at 482.

Heckthus held that if granting relief on a civilain, such as a false arrest or malicious
prosecution claim, would necessarily call into question the validity of the criminal judgment for
which the plaintiff is confined, then the cizidse cannot proceed unless the conviction has been
“reversed on direct appeal, expunged by executive order, declared invalid by a state tribunal
authorized to make such detenation, or called into question layfederal court’s issuance of a
writ of habeas corpus, 28 U.S.C. § 225" at 486—87.

For Heckto apply and bar a plaintiff's § 1983 uolg then, two requirements always must
be met: (1) a judgment in favor of the pldihthust necessarily imply the invalidity of the
plaintiff's conviction or sentence; and (2) the claim must be braoghtclaimant who is either
(a) currently in custody or (b) no longer instody because the sentence has been served, but
nevertheless could faa practicably sought habegdief while in custody.Covey v. Assessor of
Ohio Cty, 777 F.3d 186, 197 (4th Cir. 2015) (titens and alterttons omitted).

1. Heck may bar claims arising from the traffic stop through the subsequent chase.

The court first notes that platiff's conviction for felony eluding the police is clearly
based on his fleeing the traffic stop. Thus, anyhguthat any part of #hinitial traffic stop or
Tharp’s conduct violated the Fourth Amenelmhwould necessarily call into question his
conviction for that offense. Moreover, plaffitias not shown that his conviction was reversed,

expunged, set aside, or otherwise called intete, and court records indicate otherwise.



Nonetheless, based on the current reéahd, court cannot conclude thdeckbars any
of plaintiff's claims. FirstHeckwould not apply if plaintiffis no longer in custody on the
eluding charge and the federal habeas reme&dyunavailable to him. As explained by the
Fourth Circuit, “because federal habeas suiy be filed only byridividuals who are ‘in
custody,’ . . . petitioners with short sentence migid their claims moot before they could
prosecute them.'Griffin v. Baltimore Police Dep’t.804 F.3d 692, 696 (4th Cir. 2015). Thus, a
plaintiff who is no longer in custody but “could nas a practical matter, [have sought] habeas
relief” while in custody, may bring a § 1983h that would otherwise be barred iBgck.
Wilson v. Johnsarb35 F.3d 262, 263 (4th Cir. 2008ovey 777 F.3d at 197 (explaining that
the exception recognized Wilsonapplies only if a petitioner could not have “practicably sought
habeas relief while in custody”). Based ondherent record and his address of record, it
appears that plaintiff is still in jail. But it isot clear whether he is in custody on the eluding
police charge or some other charge. Also, h#icoes to pursue his dokappeals and has not
yet exhausted his claims. Thus, it is entirelyleacwhether the plaintiff's situation overcomes
theHeckbar on the basis that he is not in custodythe relevant charge and had insufficient
time to exhaust, such that federal habeas was unavailable to him. Accordingly, the court instead
addresses the alleged claims against Tharp arising from the traffic stop to see if they state a claim
if not barred byHeck See infraSection I1.C.

2. Heck likely does not bar excessive force @ims against Schienschang or others.

As to any excessive force claim against 8nbchang or others arising from the chase or

in conjunction with his subsequeatrest, it appears (at least hea the sparse allegations in

8 The determination of whether plaintiff's claims are barredibgkis complicated by plaintiff's failure to
clearly identify exactly what his claims are and the lack of detailed allegations in his complaint, as well as the fact
that no party has identified the underlying factual basis for his convictions.
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the complaint), that any sudhaim would not be barred byeck See Riddick v. LqtR02 F.

App’x 615, 617 (4th Cir. 2006) Keckdoes not bar § 1983 actions alleging excessive force
despite a plaintiff's [charge] for resisting arrest because a state court’s finding that [a plaintiff]
resisted a lawful arrest . . . may coexist vatiinding that the policefficers used excessive

force to subdue [the plaintiff].”) IRiddick the court explained that if the excessive force
caused the plaintiff to engage in the conduct ugidging his conviction for resisting arrest, then
his claim would be barred Byeckbecause “a person cannot be foguadty of resisting arrest if

he is simply protecting himself, reasonablyaiagt an officer’'s unprovoked attack or use of
excessive force.ld. at 616. If, however, the excessived® “occurred, independently, either
before the plaintiff resisted arrest, or afterresistance had clearly ceased,” then it would not be
barred byHeck Id. Moreover, to make the determination of whether his claims necessarily
would imply the invalidity of his sentenceetjuires a close factual examination of the
underlying conviction.”Riddick v. Lott202 F. App’x 615, 616 (4th Cir.2006), (citiktpck 512
U.S. at 487 n. 7kee Ballenger v. Owen352 F.3d 842, 846-47 (4th Cir.2003).

The Court lacks a record sufficient to make a “close factual examination” of whether
plaintiff's success on any of his claims against Schienschang would necessarily imply the
invalidity of his conviction. Thus, at thgoint in the case and on this “sparse” recess
Riddick 202 F. App’x at 616, the court cannot say that any excessive force claims during the
chase or immediately afterward are barredHegk Thus, such claims are addressed separately
in Section 11.D. below.

C. Plaintiff Fails to Allege a Fourth Amendment Violation As To Defendant Tharp.



Plaintiff's claims related to the stop and chase fail to allege a Fourth Amendment
violation by Tharp, for substantially the reasaes forth in the motion to dismiss and discussed
briefly next.

Both a claim that the stop itself was illegal or unreasonable and any claim that Tharp used
excessive force or acted unreasonably duriegrtffic stop are properly analyzed under the
Fourth Amendment’s “objectiveeasonableness” standarddenry v. Purnell 652 F.3d 524, 531
(4th Cir.2011) (“The Fourth Amendment’s prbhion on unreasonable seizures includes the
right to be free of ‘seizures effectuated by excessive forc&rgham v. Connqr490 U.S. 386,
394-95 (1989).

Because the test is one of “objective reasonableness,” the officer’s underlying intent or
motivation is not relevantGraham 490 U.S. at 397 (explaining thedurts determine “whether
the officers’ actions are ‘objectively reasonable’ in light of the facts and circumstances
confronting them, without regard to their undartyintent or motivation”). Instead, the court
asks “whether a reasonable officer in the saimeimstances would hawencluded that a threat
existed justifying the particular use of forceElliott v. Leavitf 99 F.3d 640, 642 (4th Cir. 1996).

This objective standard is “not capable adgse definition or mechanical application,”
Bell v. Wolfish441 U.S. 520, 559 (1979), but instead “recquareful attention to the facts and
circumstances of each particular cas@raham 490 U.S. at 396. In applying this objective
standard, the court must “weigh ‘the nature and quality of the intrusion on the individual’s
Fourth Amendment interests against the cewvailing governmental interests at stakel@ines

v. Buchanan325 F.3d 520, 527 (4th Cir.2003) (quoti@gaham 490 U.S. at 396).



Applying those principles here, it is worth noting that plaintiff's amended complaint does
not allege that the traffic stop was improper or that he did not commit a traffic violaliotne
course of a lawful traffic stop, moreover, an officer has authfmityhe seizure until the “tasks
tied to the traffic infraction are—oeasonably should have been—completdgddriguez v.
United States 575 U.S. 348, 354 (2015). Ordinary mgkcident to a traffic stop include
“inspecting a driver’s identification and licensedperate a vehicle, véying the registration of
a vehicle and existing insurance coverage, ateraéning whether the driver is subject to
outstanding warrants.United States v. Hill852 F.3d 377, 382 (4th Cir. 2017). Notably, as a
result of plaintiff's complete refusal t@operate, Tharp was nevable to completanyof those
tasks, and thus the stop remained lawful. Instpkdhtiff simply allegeghat he provided Tharp
with a “passport card” requesting “safe passagefl a card invoking his right to remain silent.

Moreover, the Supreme Counras squarely held that f@murth Amendment violation
occurs when, during the courseaofawful traffic stop, a law enfoement officer asks the driver
of the vehicle to steput of the vehicle Pennsylvania v. Mimmg34 U.S. 106, 111 n.6 (1977)
(“[O]nce a motor vehicle has been lawfully detadrfor a traffic viol&ion, the police officers
may order the driver to get out of the v@aiwithout violating the Fourth Amendment’s
proscription of unreasonable searches and seiZuré&3dearly, then, Thrp did not violate the
Fourth Amendment in asking plaifitio get out of his vehicle.

To summarize, through this point of ts@p, plaintiff had been uncooperative in

answering questions and had refused to present his driver’s license or registration. By plaintiff's

" Plaintiff alleges that Tharp actited his “emergency” lights whehere was no “emergency” (Am.
Compl. 3), but there need not be an “emergency” for a traffic stop to be lawful. The complaint does not otherwise
allege that the stop itself was illegal. In his reply, plaintiff claims that no one “made a charge or claim on the actions
they claimed was the reason for the stop,” and he therefore denies that the stop was legal (Dkt. No. 35 at 6). As
already noted, though, a party cannot amend his pleadings through brigfinéalk at Broadlands Homeowner’s
Ass’'n 713 F.3d at 184-85. This allegation is not included in the amended complaint.
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own account, Tharp continued to ask him goes and gave him nftiple opportunities to
cooperate and comply. Instead of complyingimtiff accused Tharp of trespassing. Then,
when Tharp lawfully asked plaintiff to get outtbie vehicle and plaintiff refused to do so, his
conduct created probable cause for his arr@se, e.gByndon v. Pugh350 F. Supp. 3d 495,
510 (N.D.W. Va. 2018) (holding that there was probataluse to arrest motorist where, during
traffic stop, he “repeatedly refused to producelizense, registrationnd proof of insurance],
and] refused to step out of his vehicle” attee officer asked him to do so). As defendants
correctly note, a driver in Virginia is requiréalcarry and show his driver’s license when asked
by law enforcemengeeVirginia Code § 46.2-104, and a failu@do so constitutes a traffic
violation. A law enforcement officer may arresperson who has committed a traffic infraction
because they are misdemeanors for arrest pesp®érginia Code 8§ 46.2-937, and, if the officer
reasonably believes that person will disregard a summons—Iikely on the facts here—he my
arrest instead of just issuimgcitation. Va. Code §§ 46.2-936, 46.2-940.

Thus, because there was probable cause to arrest, Tharp had authority to use reasonable
force to seize the plaintiff from the vehicle and arrest Ha®e Smith v. Ball State Uni295
F.3d 763, 769 (7th Cir. 2002) (holding that the ilolec removal of the occupant from a vehicle
during an investigatory stop was reasonablé)arp’s threat to break the window was not
unlawful or unreasonable under the circumstances, whichdedlIthat plaintiff had
continuously refused to cooperated was refusing to exit highicle. Immediately thereatter,

plaintiff fled and no other direct intactions with Tharpe are alleged.

8 Tharp also may have reasonably believed plaintiff had violated Virginia Code § 18.2-460, which
prohibits obstructing a law enforcement officer’s exercise of his duies. Coffey v. Morrjgt01 F. Supp. 2d 542,
547-48 (W.D. Va. 2005) (where officer ordered person to remain in vehicle and she walked away toward house, he
had reasonable belief that she had violated Virginia’s obstruction stategedjso Cleary v. Gree@ivil No. CCB-
07-1202, 2008 WL 4900548, at *3 (D. Md. Nov. 6, 2008) (holding officer had probable cause to arrest driver who
refused to exit vehicle as instructed because hemaa$ believed that refulseiolated Maryland law).
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On the facts alleged in the amended compléghen, no Fourth Amendment violation
resulted from Tharp’s conduct during the idigtop, which constituted the only specific
allegations against Tharp aside from the malicious prosecution tlaim.

D. Plaintiff Fails to State a Constiutional Claim Against Schienschang.

The factual matter alleged in the amended complaint is insufficient to analyze any Fourth
Amendment claim against Schienschang. Instead, the court concludes that any such claim
against Schienschang fails because plaintiff does not include sufficient factual matter to plausibly
state a valid claim against him. Plaintiff states that Schienschang’s vehicle “did collide several
times and cause damage to¢as and [plaintiff's] truck. Thn, once plaintiff was stopped,
Schienschang struck and shattered the truck’s window and order[ed] [plaintiff] out.”

As to the allegation that the two vehicles collided, nowhere in the amended complaint
does plaintiff allege that Schienschang purposefully or intentionally collided with his vehicle;
accordingly, there are insufficient facts alleged to deem this an action of force applied by
Schienschand?

The next allegation in the complaint is that plaintiff “complied” with the order to get out

of the vehicle and then was “asftad and falsely arrestedyut plaintiff does not identify

9 Plaintiff also makes the assertion that Tharpatked” him and “attempted to rape” him “by non
consensual intercourse attempted forced commerce,” which is a strange claim given that plaintiff never left his
vehicle. This allegation appears to be based on Tharptsiaed questioning of plaintiff despite the fact that Tharp
“accepted” a contract that plaintiff handedhim during the course of the stofseg generallAm. Compl., Dkt.

No. 21.) In any event, there are no other facts to support the assertion, and the court does not consider it further.

10 1t is also possible that, even if hitting plaintiff's vehicle was intentional, any such force could have been
“objectively reasonable” as an effortaorest an uncooperative driver who fled during a traffic stop and failed to
stop despite being pursued by multiple law enforcement offickd®, e.gScott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372 (2007)
(holding that no Fourth Amendment violation occurred where the plaintiff was driving dangerously wkgle bein
pursued by numerous police cars and a police officer terminated the car chase by ramming his bumper into the
plaintiff's vehicle). Moreover, as already noted, it does not violate the Fourth Amendment to forcibly remove a
driver from his car if he has been uncooperative throughout a traffic stop and refused orders to exit theSeehicle.
supraat Section I1.C.
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Schienschang as the officer who assaulted hangexplain what forcer specific actions he
believes constituted an assault. He also refers to unspecified “excessive force by assault by
Officers after affiant complied with order éxit and kneel on the ground, harm was done to the
affiant’s body straining his backg¢raping his legs and causing arti@ to his side.” (Am.

Compl. 4.) Again, he does not identify TharpgSmhienschang as one of the “Officers” that used
excessive force, nor does he itignwith any particularity whatype of force was used or what
any officer did that he believes was easonable under the aimostances. Although a

complaint “does not need detailed factual allegetjba plaintiff's pleading obligation “requires
more than labels and conclusiong.ivombly 550 U.S. at 555. Plaintiff has not met his
obligation, because he simply states that exeederce was used, and fails to allege factual
matter to support that conclusion. For altledse reasons, plaifitt Fourth Amendment
excessive force claims against Schidras will be dismissed without prejudice.

E. Plaintiff Has Not Sufficiently Alleged A Malicious Prosecution Claim.

Lastly, in a single sentencethe end of his amended complaint, plaintiff tries to assert
what the court construes as a malicious prosecuatam. Specifically, he states that defendants
swore “10 false charges,” which constituted “slander and liable under oath by using false and
fictitious names for affiant in their complaints.” (Am. Compl. 4.) No additional factual detail is
given.

Again, plaintiff’'s conclusory statement that ten charges against him were false is wholly
unsupported by any facts. Moreover, as alreadydnptaintiff was in fact either found guilty or
pleaded guilty to at least some of the charges against him. With regard to any other charges
against him that were dismissed or of which he was acquitted, he has not alleged adequate facts

to state a malicious prosecution claim. “Adhcious prosecution dia under § 1983 is properly
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understood as a Fourth Amendment claim for ulsurable seizure which incorporates certain
elements of the common law tort.Evans v. Chalmer§03 F.3d 636, 647 (4th Cir. 2012)
(quotingLambert v. Williams223 F.3d 257, 261 (4th Cir. 2000)). “To state such a claim, a
plaintiff must allege that the defendant (1) caused (2) a seizure of the plaintiff pursuant to legal
process unsupported by probable cause, andi(Bnal proceedings terminated in plaintiff's
favor.” Evans 703 F.3d at 647. Moreover, to succead claim based aallegedly false
statements made by the defendants, a plaintiff igéigevould have to show that defendants
deliberately or with a “reckless disregard for the truth” made materially false statements in
swearing out charges against hi@f. Miller v. Prince George’s Cty475 F.3d 621, 627 (4th
Cir. 2007) (same as to affidavit used to obtanest warrant). A corgsory statement that
unspecified charges against him were “falsathout any supporting detadoes not suffice to
state a claim. In short, his complaint wholly fails to adequately allege sufficient facts to support
a malicious prosecution claim pursuant tot®ec1983, and those claims will be dismissed
without prejudice'?
[ll. CONCLUSION

Because plaintiff's amended complainii$do state a constitutional deprivation
actionable under § 1983 againgher defendant, defendahtaotion to dismiss will be granted
and the amended complaint will be dismissed. dismissal is without @judice to plaintiff's
ability to file a second amended complaint if he can remedy the deficiencies identified in this

opinion. Any second amended complaintstioe filed within thirty days.

11 Moreover, such a claim cannot be based on the chargevhich he was convicted because those have
not “terminated in plaintiff's favor."Evans 703 F.3d at 647.
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To the extent his complaint is intended to assert any related state-law claims, they
likewise are dismissed withoutgyudice because the court decline®xercise jurisdiction over
them. See28 U.S.C. § 1367(c)(3).

An appropriate order will be entered.

Entered: June 16, 2020.

ey W A~ Dittor
Elizabeth K. Dillon
United States District Judge
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